
BEFORE THE 
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 

Brad Woodhouse 
Ameriean Democracy Legal Fund 
455 Massachusetts Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20001 
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Tread Standard LLC • 
1209 Orange Street, 
Wilmington, DE19801 

John Doe, Jane Doe, and any other 
persons who created and operate 
Tread Standard LLC and made contributions 
to Right to Rise Super PAC, Inc. in the name 
of Tread Standard LLC 

Tierranueva LLC 
1450 Brickell Avenue, Suite 2300 
Miami, PL 33131 

Jonathan Jaffe and any other persons 
who created and operate Tierranueva LLC 
and made contributions to 
Right to Ri^ Super PAC, Inc. in the name 
of Tierranueva LLC 
20348 Sun Valley Drive, 
Laguna Beach, CA 92651 

Right to Rise USA, Inc., and Charles R^ Spies, Treasurer 
601 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 
North Building, Suite 1000 
Washington, DC 20004 

Respondents. 

COMPLAINT 

This complaint is filed under 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(1) against Tread Standard LLC 

('Tread Standard") and any person or persons who created, operate, and made contributions in 
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the name of Tread Standard LLC (John Doe, Jane Doe, and other persons); Tierranueva LLC 

CTierranueva") and Jonathan Jaffe and any other persons who created, operate, and made 

contributions in the name of Tierranueva LLC; and Right to Rise USA, Inc; ("Right to Rise"), 

and Charles Spies, its treasurer, in his official capacity (collectively, "Respondents") for 

violating the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("the Act") and Federal 

Election Commission regulations, as described below. 

Publicly available reports indicate that the person or persons who created and operate 

Tread Standard and Jonathan Jaffe and other persons who created and operate Tierranueva 

violated the Act by contributing to Right to Rise in the name of other persons, specifically Tread 

Standard and Tierranueva. If appears that Tread, Standard and Tierranueva violated the Act by 

knowingly permitting their names to be used for the making of such contributions to Right to 

Rise and. by failing to register and file disclosures as political committees. 

A. FACTS 

1. Tiefranueva LLC 

In April and June tvvo "little-known" limited liability companies made $175,000 worth of 

contributions to Right to Rise, an independent expenditure-only committee supporting Jeb 

Bush's presidential candidacy.' Thesmaller of the two donations Came fi-om Tierranueva, which 

gave $25,000 to Right to Rise in April 2015.^ The company appears to have ties to Jbnatiian 

Jaffe, the chief operating officer of Lennar Corp. and a major contributor to Mr. Bush's political 

' Zachary Mider, ''Masked Donations to Jeb Bush Super-PAC Lead to Miami Paralegal," Bloomberg News (Aug. 25, 
2015,6:04 PM), hl^://www.bloomberg.com/politics/articles/2015-08-25/masked-super-pac.-donations4o-jeb-busli-
super-pac-lead-to-hiiami-paralegal; fee abo PEC .Form 1, Statement, of Orgwization, Right to Rise USA (June 12^ 
2015)..avfl/7fl6/c at http://docquery.fec.gov/pd&367/l 5951468367/15951468367.pdf; Right to Rise USA, available 
at https://righttorisesuperpac.org/#/home?lahg=en (''Right to Rise USA is the leading independent super PAC 
supporting Jeb Bush's campaign for President"). 
^ Michael C. Bender, "Donation to. Pro-Bush Super-PAC Tied to. Florida Homebuilder," Bloomberg News (Sept. 1-, 
2015,5:O0 AM), http://www..bloomberg,com/politics/articles/2015.-09-0 l/donation-to-pro-bush-super-pac-tied-to-
florida-home-builder. 
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campaign.^ Tierrariueva has shared Mr. Jaffa's Lagiina Beach home address, and die company 

has bought and sold a house owned by Mr. Jaffa's father.'^ Tierranueva was incorporated in 2011 

by a paralegal at Miami corporate law firm Bilzin SUmberg Baeria Price & AlexrOd LLP,® The 

company ' s Current street address is that of the law firm:^ 

2. Tread Standard LLC 

Tiead Standard, the provider of the larger of the two contributions iii question, was 

formed iii Delaware in April, just a month and a half before niakihg its $ 150,000 contribution to 

Right to Rise,' At the time that Tread Standard's contribution was disclosed, Right to Rise did 

not provide a mailing address for the company.^ 

A media report indicates that a paralegal from Mianii corporate law firm Bilzin Sumberg 

Baena. Price & Alexrod LLP filed the documents that incorporated Tread Standard.' However, 

when asked about the company, firm partner Brian Bilzin stated that he had never heard of Tread 

Standard." The paralegal Who filed the documents creating Tread Standard is the same person 

named as the registered agent for Tierranueva.'' 

B. LEG AL ARGUMENT 

1. Tread Standard LLC and Tierranueva LLC were used to make 
contributions in the naineS of other penoiis. 

Ud. 
*Jd 
Ud 
^ Mider, supra note 1. 
^ Id 
'Paul Biumenthal, "We're Still in the Dark About Some Super PAC Donors," Huffihgton Post (Aug. 19,20 IS, 7:35 
PM), http.7/www.hulTingtonpost:coni/entry/disclosed-super-pac-donations^SSd3.8968e4b07addcb44Sb.b7. 
' Mider, jupra note 1. 
">-W. 
" Id 
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The Act provides that "[n]o person shall make a contnbution in the name of another 

person or knowingly permit his name to be used to effect such a contribution."'^ The regulation 

implementing the statute provides the following two examples of "contributions in the name of 

another": 

• Giving money or anything of value, all or part of which was provided to the contributor 
by another person (the true contributor) without disclosing the source of money or the 
thing of value to the recipient candidate committee at the time the contribution is made.'^. 

• Making a contribution of money or anything of value and attributing as the source of the 
money or thing of value another person when in fact the contributor is the source.'^ 

Publicly available news reports strongly suggest that John DOe, Jane Doe, and other persons who 

created, operate, and contributed to Tread Standard violated 52 U.S.C. § 30122. John Doe, Jane 

Doe, and other persons gave "money... all or part of which was provided to the contributor," 

Tread Standard, even though John Doe, Jane Doe, and other persons were the true contributors; 

and did so vrithout disclosing that they were the source of the money to Right to Rise at the time 

the contribution was: made.Public reports also indicate that Mr. Jaffe and other persons who 

created, operate, and contributed to Tierranueva have violated 52 U.S.C. § 30122. Their 

violation results from "[gjiving money ... all or part of which was provided to" Tierranueva by 

them as the true contributors without disclosing themselves as source of the money to Right to 

Rise at the time the contribution was made.'^ Further, Right to Rise is in violation of the Act 

because it knowingly accepted those contributions in the names of Tierranueva and Tread 

Standard, and reported the contributions as made by Tierranueva and Tread Standard, even 

« 52 U.S=C. § 30122. 
" 11 C.F:R.§ 110.4(2X0. 
'*/</.§ ll0.4(2XiO. 
"See id. § 110.4(2)(0. 
"See id 
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though it was certainly aware of the ihdividual(s) or entities that were the true source of the 

funds. 

2.. Tierranueva and Tread Standard Failed to Register As Political Committees: 
Under the Act. 

The Act defines a political committee as "any committee, club, association, or Other 

group of persons which receives contributions aggregating in excess of $1,000 during a calendar 

year or which makes expenditures aggregating in excess of $1,000 during a calendar year."'^ 

The Supreme Court has interpreted, "political committee" to encompass organizations whoSe 

"major purpose ... is the ndminatibh or election of a candidate."'® 

The Federal Election Commission ("PEC") has explained the connection between the Act 

and relevant case law; 

[Djetermining political committee statiiS under [the Act], as modified by the Supreme 
Court, requires an analysis qf both an organization's specific conduct—whether it 
received $1,000 in contributions or made $1,000 in expenditures--as well as its overall 
conduct— whether its major pUipose is Federal campaign activity (i.e., the nomination 
and election of a Federal candidate)." 

T^ing the above together, there is a two-prong test for political conunittee status under federal 

law: (1) whether an organization's "major purpose" is to influence the nomination or election of 

a candidate, and (2) whether the Organization receives Contributions or makes expenditures of 

$1,QOO or more in a calendar year. 

"52 U.S.C.§3010.1(4XA). 
Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1,7.9 (1976) (per curiam); see also Fed. Election Comfn'h v. Mass. Citizens for Life, 

Inc., 479 U.S. 238,262 (1986) (noting that if a S0.1(c)(4)'s independent expenditures became "so. extensive that the 
organization's major purpose may be regarded as canrtpaign activity, [then] the corporation would be classified as a 
political committee" and that, as a result, the corporation "would automatically be subject to the obligations and 
restrictions applicable to those groups whose primary objective is to influence political campaigns."). 
" Supplernehtal Explanation and Justification, 72 Fed. Reg. 5595,5597 (Feb. 7j 2007), 
http://www;gpo.gbv/fdsys/pkg/FR-2Q07-.02-07/pdfi'E7-1936.pdf. 
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Any entity that meets this test for political committee status must file a statement of 

organization with the FEC,^° comply with the organizational and recordkeeping requirements,^^ 

and file disclosure reports.^^ Furthetj the political committee's disclosures must, provide detailed 

information regarding the committee's financial activities and the identities of donors who have 

contributed $200 or more to the committee within the calendar year.^^ 

Public reports strongly suggest that Tread Standard and Tierranueva have met the two-

proiig test for political committee status^ There is ho. indication that Tread Standard was created 

for any other reason than to donate $ 150,000 to Right to Rise. Indeed, there are no reports on 

any other ventures that Tread Standard has pursued since its incorporation. Similarly, 

Tierranueva's contribution of $25,000 to Right to Rise seems to be the primary purpose for its 

existence. Other than the purchase and reselling of Mr. Jaffe's father's house, there is ho report 

of ahy other activity of sighificance in which Tierranueva has ehgaged sihce its creatioh in 2Q11 > 

As such, ihfiuehcing the nomination or election of Mr. Bush seems tb be the major purpose of 

both companies. Additionally, both companies have met the contribution requirenient necessary 

to trigger political conmiittee status with Tread. Standard and Tierfahueva receiving $150,000 

and $25,000, respectively.^^ Given the lack of any revenue or income streams that would have 

allowed either company to give those donations on their owhy the donations ithey provided to 

Right to Rise must have come frohi outside sOiirceS. Therefore, Tread Standard and its creators 

and Tierranueva and Mr. Jaffe and other persons who created it are in violation of the Act by 

^52 U.S.C.§ 30103. 
2>/d§ 30102. 

§ 30104. 
"/«/.§.30104(b). 
" For an example of a for-profit entity found to. be a political committee, see Fed. Election Comm 'n v. Mdlehidk,. 
310 F. Supp. 2d.230 (D;D.C. 2004), rev'don other grounds, No. Civ. A. 02-1237(Jft), 2005 WL 58^222 (D.D.C. 
Mar. 7,2005). 
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failing to register the companies as politick committees and file disclosure reports as required 

under the law. 

C. RiEQUiEiSTEP ACTION 

As we have shownji Tread Standard LLC and any person or persons w'ho created, operate, 

and make contributions in the name of that entity and Tierranueva LLC and Mr. Jaffe and other 

persons who created, pperate^ and made contributions in the name of that entity haVe violated the 

Act by (1) making contributions in the name of another .and (2) failing to register and fil#«i[-" 
V 

disclosures as political comitiittees. We. respectfully request that the Commission investigate 
f i 

these violations, and that Respondents be enjoined from further violations and be fined the 

maximum amount permitted by law. 

SUBSCRIBED AND S WORN tobefbremOm day^of Soptomber. 2015. 

My Commission Expires: 
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